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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

EASTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA 

NORTHERN DIVISION 

 

 

TYRONN FEREBEE on Behalf of Himself 

and on Behalf of All Others Similarly 

Situated,  

 

 Plaintiff, 

 

v.   

 

EXCEL STAFFING SERVICE, INC., 

 

 Defendant. 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§

§ 

 

 

 

 

  

 

CIVIL ACTION NO. 2:16-cv-00008 

  

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 

 

  

 

 

PLAINTIFF’S ORIGINAL COMPLAINT, COLLECTIVE ACTION, CLASS ACTION 

AND JURY DEMAND 

 

 

SUMMARY 

1. This case is a class action and collective against Defendant Excel Staffing 

Service, Inc.’s (“Defendant”) employment practices.  First, Defendant uniformly misclassifies its 

nurses as independent contractors instead of employees.  In doing so, Defendant denies those 

workers the overtime they are entitled to under the Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”) and the 

North Carolina Wage and Hour Act (“NCWHA”).  Plaintiff brings his overtime action as a 

collective action under the FLSA and a Rule 23 class action under the NCWHA and seeks, on 

behalf of himself and all similarly situated employees, unpaid overtime compensation, liquidated 

damages, interest, attorneys’ fees, and litigation costs. 

2. Second, Defendant’s employment screening policies violate the Fair Credit 

Reporting Act (“FCRA”).  Defendant routinely obtains and uses information in consumer reports 
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to conduct background checks of prospective employees and frequently relies on such 

information, in whole or in part, as a basis for adverse employment action, such as the failure to 

hire.  While the use of consumer report information for employment purposes is not per se 

unlawful, it is subject to strict disclosure and authorization requirements under the FCRA.  

Defendant violated these disclosure and authorization requirements thereby systematically 

violating Plaintiff’s rights and the rights of other FCRA class members. 

3. Defendant violated the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(3)(A) by procuring 

consumer reports on Plaintiff and other FCRA class members for employment purposes without 

first making proper disclosures in the format required by the statute.  Under this subsection of the 

FCRA, Defendant is required to disclose to its prospective employees—in a document that 

consists solely of the disclosure—that it may obtain a consumer report on them for employment 

purposes, prior to obtaining a copy of their consumer report.  Id.  Defendant willfully violated 

this requirement by failing to provide Plaintiff and other FCRA class members with a copy of a 

document solely consisting of Defendant’s disclosure that it may obtain a consumer report on 

any person for employment purposes, and also by failing to provide this disclosure prior to 

obtaining a copy of the person’s consumer report.  Specifically, Defendant included a liability 

release within its FCRA disclosure form, which reads as follows:   

I, my heirs, assigns and legal representatives, hereby release and fully 

discharge the Company, its parent and affiliated companies and the 

respective officers, directors, shareholders, employees, agents of each, 

including subcontractors, from any and all claims, monetary or otherwise, 

that I may have against The Company, its parent, affiliates, or 

subcontractors, arising out of the making, or use of, either a consumer 

report and/or investigative report, including any errors or omissions 

contained or omitted from such report or investigations.   
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4. Furthermore, Defendant violated 15 U.S.C. § 1618b(b)(2)(A)(ii) by obtaining 

consumer reports on Plaintiff and other putative class members without proper authorization due 

to the fact that its disclosure forms fail to comply with the requirements of the FCRA.   

5. On behalf of himself and the FCRA Class Members, Plaintiff seeks statutory 

damages, costs and attorneys’ fees, equitable relief, and other appropriate relief under the FCRA.   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 

6. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action under 29 U.S.C. 

§ 1331 as this case involves question of federal law, specifically the FLSA and FRCA.  This 

court has supplemental jurisdiction over the state law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 

7. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant because it is a North Carolina 

corporation. 

8. Venue is proper in this District because a substantial portion of the events forming 

the basis of this suit occurred in this District, including many of the wrongs herein alleged. 

PARTIES AND PERSONAL JURISDICTION 

 

9. Plaintiff Tyronn Ferebee is an individual residing in Pasquotank County, North 

Carolina.  His written consent for the FLSA claims asserted in this case is attached hereto as 

Exhibit A. 

10. Defendant Excel Staffing Company, Inc. is a domestic for profit corporation 

headquartered in Greensboro, North Carolina.  Defendant may be served process through its 

registered agent David J. Tolin, 1202 East Wendover Avenue, Greensboro, North Carolina 

27405, or wherever he may be found. 

11. The FLSA Class Members are all nurses working for Defendant throughout the 

country who are misclassified as independent contractors. 
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12. The North Carolina Class Members are all nurses working for Defendant 

throughout North Carolina who were misclassified as independent contractors or otherwise not 

as employees. 

13. The FCRA Class Members are all of Defendant’s job applicants who were the 

subject of a consumer report that was procured by Defendant in the form attached hereto as 

Exhibit “B.”   

FLSA COVERAGE 

14. At all material times, Defendant has been an employer within the meaning of the 

FLSA.  29 U.S.C. § 203(d). 

15. At all material times, Defendant has been an enterprise in commerce or in the 

production of goods for commerce within the meaning of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(s)(1), in 

that said enterprise has had and continues to have employees engaged in commerce or the 

production of goods for commerce, or employees handling, selling, or otherwise working on 

goods or materials that have been moved in or produced for commerce by any person. 

16. At all material times, Defendant has had an annual gross business volume in 

excess of the statutory standard of $500,000. 

17. At all material times, Plaintiff and Class Member were/are employees engaged in 

commerce or the production of goods for commerce as required by 29 U.S.C. § 207. 

FACTS 

18. Defendant is a staffing company that provides Registered Nurses (“RNs”), 

Licensed Practical Nurses (“LPNs”), and Certified Nursing Assistants (“CNAs”) to medical care 

facilities in multiple states, including North Carolina, Texas, and Mississippi.  Defendant 

contracts with these facilities to provide nursing personnel.   
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19. Plaintiff worked for Defendant as a CNA from April of 2014 to September 2015.  

During most of his time, Defendant assigned him to work at a nursing home in Nags Head, North 

Carolina. 

20. As a CNA, Plaintiff’s primary duties involved patient care, such as assisting 

patients eat, bathing patients, and moving patients around the facility.   

21. For compensation, Defendant paid Plaintiff and its other nurses an hourly rate.  

However, Defendant did not pay Plaintiff and its other nurses overtime because it misclassified 

them as independent contractors.   

22. Defendant maintains a level of control over its nurses that is indicative of an 

employer-employee relationship. 

23. Defendant maintains and exercises the power to hire, fire, and discipline its 

nurses. 

24. Defendant schedules the work of its nurses and requires its nurses adhere to that 

schedule. 

25. Defendant’s nurses must adhere to Defendant’s policies in performing their work, 

including policies related to patient care, scheduling, and reporting time worked. 

26. Plaintiff and other nurses make virtually no investment in Defendant’s business 

operations and have no ability to control their profit or loss.  Instead, like normal hourly 

employees, the only way Plaintiff and his fellow nurses could earn more money is to work more 

hours. 

27. Furthermore, Defendant hired nurses for an open ended period of time with the 

expectation of steady work.  Plaintiff for example worked for Defendant on a regular basis for 

approximately one year and a half.   
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28. As a matter of economic reality, Plaintiff and all similarly situated nurses are 

economically dependent upon Defendant to such an extent that they cannot plausibly be 

considered to be in business for themselves. 

29. Plaintiff and Defendant’s other nurses normally work in excess of forty hours per 

week.  Plaintiff typically worked several double shifts each week for total weekly hours in excess 

of 60.   

30. Although Plaintiff and other nurses worked more than 40 hours per week they 

were not compensated for that time at the rate of time and one half their regular rates of pay over 

40 because they were misclassified as independent contractors. 

31. No exemption excuses Defendant from paying overtime to the Plaintiff or the 

FLSA Class Members or the NCWHA Class Members.   

32. Defendant has failed to make a good faith effort to comply with the FLSA.  

Instead, Defendant knowingly and willfully carried out this illegal pay practice of misclassifying 

its nurses.  In fact, Defendant actually advertises the fact that it does not charge overtime to its 

clients as a selling point of its services. See http://excelnursing.com/staffing.htm (last visited 

November 6, 2015).   

33. In addition to advertising itself as a low cost staffing option that does not pay 

overtime, Defendant’s website also advertises the lengths it goes through to vet a job candidate: 

The CNA’s and Nurses’ application process requires extensive skill and 

knowledge testing, validation of all required certifications and licenses, 

medical screening as required by your state board, along with all 

background (including CRIMINAL) and work history checks. 

 

Id. (emphasis in original). 

 

34. However, Defendant’s efforts in conducting its pre-employment screening violate 

the FCRA.   
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35. Under the FCRA, it is unlawful to procure a consumer report or cause a consumer 

report to be procured for employment purposes, unless: 

(i) a clear and conspicuous disclosure has been made in writing to the 

consumer at any time before the report is procured or caused to be 

procured, in a document that consists solely of the disclosure that 

a consumer report may be obtained for employment purposes; and 

 

(ii) the consumer has authorized the procurement of the consumer 

report in writing (which authorization may be made on the 

document referred to in clause (i)). 

 

15 U.S.C. §§ 1681b(b)(2)(A)(i)-(ii) (emphasis added). 

 

36. Defendant failed to satisfy these disclosure and authorization requirements.  

37. Defendant does not have a stand-alone FCRA disclosure or authorization form. 

38. Instead of having a stand-alone FCRA disclosure or authorization form, 

Defendant’s form attempts to impermissible waive liability for procuring a report by including 

the following language on its “Notification and Release:” 

I, my heirs, assigns and legal representatives, hereby release and fully 

discharge The Company, its parent and affiliated companies and the 

respective officers, director, shareholders, employees, agents of each, 

including subcontractors, from any and all claims, monetary or otherwise, 

that I may have against The Company, its parent, affiliates or 

subcontractors, arising out of the making, or use of, either a consumer 

report and/or investigative report, including any errors or omissions 

contained or omitted from such reports or investigations. (Exhibit “B”) 

 

39. Plaintiff and other members of the FCRA class provided a “Notification and 

Release” form as part of their job application.  This same form is currently available on 

Defendant’s website.  http://www.excelnursing.com/pdfs/I-9%20&%20Release.pdf. 

40. This practice violates the plain language of the FCRA, and flies in the face of 

unambiguous case law and regulatory guidance from the FTC and is objectively unreasonable.   
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41. For more than fifteen years, the law has been clear that including waiver language 

violates the FCRA.  As one FTC opinion letter provides: 

While we believe that you may combine the disclosure and authorization. . 

. , we note that your draft disclosure includes a waiver by the consumer of 

his or her rights under the FCRA.  The inclusion of such a waiver in a 

disclosure form will violate Section 604(b)(2)(A) of the FCRA, which 

requires that a disclosure consist “solely” of the disclosure that a consumer 

report may be obtained for employment purposes.  Moreover, it is a 

general principle of law that benefits provided to citizens by federal statute 

generally may not be waived by private agreement unless Congress 

intended such a result. 

 

Letter from William Haynes, Attorney, Div. of Credit Practices, Fed. Trade Comm’n, to Richard 

W. Hauxwell, CEO, Accufax Div. (June 12, 1998), 1998 WL 34323756 (F.T.C.).   

42. Other opinion letters further clarify that “[n]othing else may appear on the 

document that detracts from the disclosure required by [section 1681b(b)(2)(A)].”  Letter from 

William Haynes, Attorney, Div. of Credit Practices, Fed. Trade Commn’n to Harold Hawkey, 

Employers Assoc. of N.J. (Dec. 18, 1997), 1997 WL 33791224 (F.T.C.).  Additionally, 

The reason for specifying a stand-alone disclosure was so that consumers 

will not be distracted by additional information at the time the disclosure 

is given.  We believe that including an authorization in the same document 

with the disclosure. . . will not distract from the disclosure itself; to the 

contrary, a consumer who is required to authorize procurement of the 

report on the same document will be more likely to focus on the 

disclosure.  However, such a document should include nothing more than 

the disclosure and the authorization for obtaining a consumer report. 

 

Letter from Cynthia Lamb, Investigator, Div. of Credit Practices, Fed. Trade Comm’n, to 

Richard Steer, Jones Hirsch Connors & Bull, P.C. (Oct. 21, 1997), 1997 WL 33791227 (F.T.C.). 

43. Courts analyzing the stand alone requirement have reached the same conclusion 

as the FTC:  including waiver language in the disclosure statement violates the FCRA.  See 

Reardon v. CloseMaid Corp., 2:08-cv-01730, 2013 WL 6231606, at *9 (W.D. Pa. Dec. 2, 

2013)(“the authorization form simply does not comply with the FCRA’s express requirement 
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that the disclosure appear in a document that consists solely of the disclosure”);  Singleton v. 

Domino’s Pizza, LLC, 11-cv-1823, 2012 WL 245965, at *8 (D. Md. Jan. 25, 2012)(“the . . .form 

runs contrary to [the stand-alone] definition because, by containing a liability release, the form 

includes information that extends beyond the disclosure itself”).   

44. Defendant willfully disregarded this case law and regulatory guidance, and 

willfully violated 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(2)(A) by procuring consumer report information on 

employees without complying with the disclosure and authorization requirements of the FCRA. 

45. Defendant knew the requirements under the FCRA but intentionally chose to 

disregard them.  

FLSA COLLECTIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

46. Plaintiff seeks to bring his claims under the FLSA on behalf of himself and all 

other similarly situated workers of Defendant who worked in any week as a nurse and were 

classified as an independent contractor in three years immediately preceding the date on which 

this action was filed and continuing thereafter through the date on which final judgment is 

entered.  Those who file a written consent will be a party to this action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 

216(b).  (“FLSA Class Members”).  Plaintiff seeks unpaid minimum wages, unpaid overtime, 

liquidated damages, court costs, and attorneys’ fees on behalf of the FLSA Class Members.  

47. Plaintiff has actual knowledge that FLSA Class Members have also been denied 

overtime pay for hours worked over forty hours per workweek.  That is, Plaintiff worked with 

other nurses staffed by Defendant and also treated as independent contractors.  As such, he has 

first-hand personal knowledge of the same pay violations throughout Defendant’s operations.  
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48.  Other employees similarly situated to the Plaintiff work or have worked for 

Defendant, but were not paid overtime at the rate of one and one-half their regular rate when 

those hours exceeded forty hours per workweek.     

49. Although Defendant permitted and/or required the FLSA Class Members to work 

in excess of forty hours per workweek, Defendant has denied them full compensation for their 

hours worked over forty.  

50.  The FLSA Class Members perform or have performed the same or similar work 

as the Plaintiff. 

51.  FLSA Class Members regularly work or have worked in excess of forty hours 

during a workweek.  

52. Like Plaintiff, the FLSA Class Members were paid on an hourly rate for the hours 

they worked, without receiving overtime. 

53. FLSA Class Members are not exempt from receiving overtime under the FLSA. 

54.  As such, FLSA Class Members are similar to Plaintiff in terms of job duties, pay 

structure, misclassification as independent contractors and/or the denial of overtime. 

55.  Defendant’s failure to pay overtime compensation required by the FLSA results 

from generally applicable policies or practices, and does not depend on the personal 

circumstances of the FLSA Class Members. 

56.  The experiences of the Plaintiff, with respect to his pay, and lack thereof, is 

typical of the experiences of the FLSA Class Members. 

57.  The specific job titles or precise job responsibilities of each FLSA Class Member 

does not prevent collective treatment. 
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58. All FLSA Class Members, irrespective of their particular job requirements, are 

entitled to overtime compensation for hours worked in excess of forty during a workweek. 

59. Although the exact amount of damages may vary among FLSA Class Members, 

the damages can be easily calculated by a simple formula. The claims of all FLSA Class 

Members arise from a common nucleus of facts. Liability is based on a systematic course of 

wrongful conduct by the Defendant that caused harm to all FLSA Class Members.  

60. As such, the class of similarly situated workers is properly defined as follows:  

The Class Members are all of Defendant’s current and former nurses 

classified as independent contractors any week during the three year period 

prior to the filing of the Complaint to the present.   

 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

61. Plaintiff also seeks to represent two classes under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3),  one 

for back wages, interest and liquidated damages under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 95-25.22(a1) 

(“NCWHA Class Members”) and a second under the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681b (“FCRA Class 

Members).   

62. The NCWHA Class consists of all nurses classified as independent in North 

Carolina at any time during the two year period prior to the filing of this lawsuit to the present.   

63. The FCRA Class consists of all of Defendant’s job applicants who were the 

subject of a consumer report that was procured by Defendant in the form attached hereto as 

Exhibit “B” during the five year period prior to the filing of this lawsuit to the present.  

64. The individuals in the Classes are so numerous that joinder of all individual 

members is impracticable.  Although the precise number of such individuals is currently known 

to Defendant, Plaintiff believes that the number of individuals that worked for Defendant in 
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North Carolina in the last two years exceeds 40 and number of job applicants nationwide exceeds 

300. 

65. There are questions of law and fact common to the Class that predominate over 

any individual questions solely affect individual members, including, but not limited to: 

NCWHA CLASS: 

 

A. Whether Defendant violated the NCWHA by classifying its 

nurses as independent contractors as opposed to employees; 

 

B. Whether Plaintiff and the Class Members are entitled to overtime 

pay; 

 

C. Whether Plaintiff and the Class Members are entitled to 

liquidated damages; 

 

FCRA CLASS: 

 

D. Whether Defendant uses consumer report information to conduct 

background checks on employees and prospective employees; 

 

E. Whether Defendant’s background check practices and/or 

procedures comply with the FCRA; 

 

F. Whether Defendant violated the FCRA by procuring consumer 

report information without making proper disclosures in the format required by 

the statute; 

 

G. Whether Defendant violated the FCRA by procuring consumer 

report information based on invalid authorizations; 

 

H. Whether Defendant’s violations of the FCRA were willful; and 

 

I. The amount of damages, restitution, and/or other relief 

(including all applicable civil penalties, liquidated damages, and 

injunctive/equitable relief) Plaintiff and Class Members are entitled to. 

 

66. Plaintiff’s overtime claims are typical of those of the NCWHA Class.  Plaintiff, 

like other members of this Class, was misclassified as an independent contractor and denied his 

right to overtime wages and under the NCWHA.  The misclassification of Plaintiff resulted from 
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the implementation of a pay policy which affected all NCWHA Class Members in a similar way.  

Plaintiff challenges Defendant’s practice under legal theories common to all NCWHA Class 

Members. 

67. Likewise, Plaintiff’s FCRA claims are typical of those of the FCRA Class.  Like 

the FCRA Class Members, Defendant subjected Plaintiff to a pre-employment background check 

that violates the FCRA. 

68. Plaintiff and the undersigned counsel are adequate representatives of the Class.  

Given Plaintiff’s loss, Plaintiff has the incentive and is committed to the prosecution of this 

action for the benefit of the Classes.  Plaintiff has no interests that are antagonistic to those of the 

Class or that would cause him to act adversely to the best interests of the Class.  Plaintiff has 

retained counsel experienced in class action litigation and wage and hour disputes. 

69. This action is maintainable as a class action under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(1), 

23(b)(2), and 23(c)(4) because the prosecution of separate actions by individual members of the 

Class would create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications with respect to individual 

members of the Class which would establish incompatible standards for Defendant and similar 

companies. 

70. This action is maintainable as a class action under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3) 

because questions of law and fact common to the Class predominate over any questions affecting 

only individuals members of the Class and because a class action is superior to other methods for 

the fair and efficient adjudication of this action. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violation of the FLSA—Collective Action 

(Failure to Pay Overtime) 

71. Plaintiff incorporates all allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs.  
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72. 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) allows Plaintiff to assert FLSA claims on behalf of himself 

and all other employees similarly situated.  Plaintiff asserts this claim on behalf of himself an all 

similarly situated employees in the FLSA Class defined above, who worked for Defendant at any 

time from the date three years prior to the date the Complaint was originally filed continuing 

through the present.  All requirements for a collective action are met. 

73. 29 U.S.C. § 207 requires Defendant to pay all employees for each hour worked in 

excess of 40 at a rate equal to one and one half times the regular rate of pay. 

74. Defendant failed to pay Plaintiff and the FLSA Class Members overtime because 

it misclassified them as independent contractors.     

75. Based on the foregoing, Plaintiff and the FLSA Class Members are entitled to the 

full statutory overtime as set forth in 29 U.S.C. § 207 for all periods in which they worked for 

Defendant. 

76. Defendant’s conduct in misclassifying nurses like Plaintiff and the Class 

Members was willful and done to avoid paying them overtime and other benefits that they were 

legally entitled to. 

77. The Plaintiff and FLSA Class Members are not exempt from the overtime 

requirements under the FLSA.  

78. The FLSA provides that a private civil action may be brought for the payment of 

federal minimum wages and overtime together with an equal amount in liquidated damages.  

Moreover, Plaintiff and FLSA Class Members are entitled to recover attorneys’ fees and costs 

incurred in enforcing their rights pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).   

79. 29 U.S.C. § 211(c) provides in relevant part: 

Every employer subject to any provision of this chapter or of any order 

issued under this chapter shall make, keep, and preserve such records of 
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the persons employed by him and of the wages, hours, and other 

conditions and practices of employment maintained by him, and shall 

preserve such records for such periods of time, and shall make such 

reports therefrom to the Administrator as he shall prescribe by regulation 

or order as necessary or appropriate for the enforcement of the provisions 

of this chapter or the regulations or orders thereunder. 

 

80. 29 C.F.R. § 516.2 further requires that every employer shall maintain and 

preserve payroll or other records containing, without limitation, the total hours worked by each 

employee each workday and total hours worked by each employee during the workweek. 

81. To the extent Defendant failed to maintain all records required by the 

aforementioned statute and regulations, and failed to furnish to Plaintiff and the FLSA Class 

Members comprehensive statements showing the hours they worked during the relevant time 

period, it also violated the law. 

82. When an employer fails to keep accurate records of hours worked by its 

employees, the rule in Anderson v. Mt. Clemens Pottery Co., 328 U.S. 680, 687-688 is 

controlling.  That rule states: 

[W]here the employer’s records are inaccurate or inadequate. . .an 

employee has carried out his burden if he proves that he has in fact 

performed work for which he was improperly compensated and if he 

produces sufficient evidence to show the amount and extent of that work 

as a matter of just and reasonable inference.  The burden then shifts to the 

employer to come forward with evidence of the precise amount of work 

performed or with evidence to negate the reasonableness of the inference 

to be drawn from the employee’s evidence.  If the employer failed to 

produce such evidence, the court may then award damages to the 

employee, even though the result be only approximate. 

 

83. The Supreme Court set forth the above standard to avoid allowing the employer to 

benefit by failing to maintain proper records.  Where damages are awarded pursuant to the 

standard in Mt. Clemens, “[t]he employer cannot be heard to complain that the damages lack the 
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exactness and precision of measurement that would be possible had he kept records in 

accordance with. . .the Act.”  Id. 

84. Based on the foregoing, on behalf of the FLA Class, Plaintiff seeks unpaid 

overtime at the required legal rates for all their work during the relevant time period, back pay, 

restitution, damages, liquidated damages, attorneys’ fees and costs, and any other relief allowed 

by law.    

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violation of the North Carolina Wage and Hour Act 

Failure to Pay Overtime 

 

85. Plaintiff incorporates all allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs.  

86. North Carolina law requires an employer to pay its employees on all wages 

accruing to the employee.  N.C. Gen. Stat. § 95-25.6. 

87. Defendant is required to pay each employee that worked more than 40 hours per 

workweek at a rate of not less than time and one half of the regular rate of pay for each hour 

worked 40 per week.  N.C. Gen. Stat. § 95-25.4. 

88. Defendant intentionally refused to pay all wages due as set forth in the preceding 

paragraphs to Plaintiff and the NCWHA Class Members in violation of the North Carolina Wage 

and Hour Act. 

89. The Plaintiff and NCWHA Class Members are not exempt from the overtime 

requirements under the North Carolina Wage and Hour Act.  

90. Accordingly, Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the NCWHA Class Members, 

seeks damages in the amount equal to the amount of unpaid earned compensation, liquidated 

damages, interests, costs, and attorneys’ fees.  N.C. Gen. Stat. § 95-25.22.    
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THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violation of the Fair Credit Reporting Act 

Failure to Make Proper Disclosure 

 

91. Plaintiff incorporates all allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs. 

92. In violation of the FCRA, the background check the Defendant required Plaintiff 

and the FCRA Class Members to complete as a condition of their employment with Defendant 

does not satisfy the disclosure requirements of 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(2)(A)(i) because Defendant 

failed to provide a stand-alone document pertaining to how the consumer report information 

would be obtained and utilized. 

93. Defendant violated the FCRA by procuring consumer reports on Plaintiff and the 

FCRA Class Members without first making proper disclosures in the format required by 15 

U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(2)(A)(i).  Namely, these disclosures had to be made: (1) before Defendant 

actually procured consumer reports, and (2) in a stand-alone document, clearly informing 

Plaintiff and the FCRA Class Members that Defendant might procure a consumer report on each 

of them for purposes of employment. 

94. The foregoing violations were willful.  Defendant knew that it was required to 

provide a stand-alone form prior to obtaining and then utilizing a consumer report on any of the 

FCRA Class Members.  By failing to do so, Defendant acted in deliberate or reckless disregard 

of its obligations and the rights of Plaintiff and other FCRA Class Members under15 U.S.C. § 

1681b(b)(2)(A)(i).  Defendant knew or should have known of its legal obligations under the 

FCRA.  These obligations are well established in both the plain language of the FCRA and in the 

promulgations of the Federal Trade Commission.  Defendant obtained, or had available to it, 

substantial written materials that appraised it of its duties under the FCRA.  Any reasonable 

employer would know of, or could easily discover, the FCRA’s mandates. 
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95. Plaintiff and the FCRA Class Members are entitled to statutory damages of not 

less than one hundred dollars ($100) and not more than one thousand dollars ($1000) for each 

and every one of these violations under 15 U.S.C. § 1681n(a)(1)(A), in addition to punitive 

damages under 15 U.S.C. § 1681n(a)(2).   

96. Plaintiff and the FCRA Class Members are further entitled to recover their costs 

and attorneys’ fees, in accordance with 15 U.S.C. § 1681n(a)(3).   

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violation of the Fair Credit Reporting Act 

Failure to Obtain Proper Authorization 

 

97. Plaintiff incorporates all allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs. 

98. Defendant violated the FCRA by procuring consumer reports relating to Plaintiff 

and the FCRA Class Members without proper authorization.  See 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(2)(A)(ii). 

99. The foregoing violations were willful.  Defendant acted with deliberate or 

reckless disregard of its obligations and the rights of Plaintiff and other FCRA Class Members 

under 15 U.S.C. § 1681(b)(2)(A)(ii).  Defendant knew or should have known of its legal 

obligations under the FCRA.  These obligations are well established in both the plain language of 

the FCRA and in the promulgations of the Federal Trade Commission.  Defendant obtained, or 

had available to it, substantial written materials that appraised it of its duties under the FCRA.  

Any reasonable employer would know of, or could easily discover, the FCRA’s mandates. 

100. Plaintiff and the FCRA Class Members are entitled to statutory damages of not 

less than one hundred dollars ($100) and not more than one thousand dollars ($1000) for each 

and every one of these violations under 15 U.S.C. § 1681n(a)(1)(A), in addition to punitive 

damages under 15 U.S.C. § 1681n(a)(2).   
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101. Plaintiff and the FCRA Class Members are further entitled to recover their costs 

and attorneys’ fees, in accordance with 15 U.S.C. § 1681n(a)(3).   

JURY DEMAND 

 

102. Plaintiff demands trial by jury on all issues so triable. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

103. Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the FLSA Class, NCWHA Class, and FCRA 

Class prays for relief as follows: 

A. Determining that the FLSA claims stated herein may proceed as a collective 

action; 

 

B. Determining that the NCWHA and FCRA claims stated herein may proceed as a 

class action; 

 

C. Declaring that Defendant committed multiple, separate violations of the FCRA, 

NCWHA, and FLSA; 

 

D. Declaring that Defendant acted willfully in deliberate or reckless disregard of 

Plaintiffs’ rights and its obligations under the FCRA, NCWHA, and FLSA; 

 

E. Awarding statutory damages, unpaid overtime wages, liquidated damages, 

penalties, and punitive damages as authorized by the FLSA, FCRA, and 

NCWHA; 

 

F. Awarding reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs as provided by the FCRA, 

NCWHA, and FLSA; and 

 

G. Granting such other and further relief, in law or equity, as this Court may deem 

appropriate and just.   

 

 

Respectfully submitted,  

 

KENNEDY HODGES, L.L.P. 

 

By:_/s/ Don Foty________________ 

Don J. Foty 

DFoty@kennedyhodges.com 

Texas State Bar No. 24050022 (Will Apply 

for Admission Pro Hac Vice) 
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John Neuman 

Texas State Bar No. 24083560 (Will Apply 

For Admission Pro Hac Vice) 

711 W. Alabama St. 

Houston, TX 77006 

Telephone: (713) 523-0001 

Facsimile: (713) 523-1116  

 

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF AND CLASS 

MEMBERS 

  

      AND 

 

      Local Counsel 

 
      /s/ Todd Ellis_________________ 

Todd Ellis (Fed. I.D. # 6488) 

LAW OFFICE OF TODD ELLIS, P.A. 

7911Broad River Road, Suite 100 

Irmo, SC 29063 

Phone: 803-732-0123 

Fax: 803-732-0124 

Email: todd@toddellislaw.com 
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CONSENT TO BECOME A PARTY PLAINTIFF
OVERTIME AND UNPAID WAGE LAWSUIT

Name: _________________________

1. I consent and agree to pursue my claims for unpaid overtime and/or minimum wage
through the lawsuit filed against my employer.

2. I understand that this lawsuit is brought to recover unpaid wages under the Fair Labor
Standards Act and all applicable state laws. I hereby consent, agree and opt-in to become a
plaintiff herein and be bound by any judgment by the Court or any settlement of this action.

3. I intend to pursue my claim individually, unless and until the court certifies this case as a
collective or class action. I agree to serve as the class representative if the court approves. If
someone else serves as the class representative, then I designate the class representatives as my
agents to make decisions on my behalf concerning the litigation, the method and manner of
conducting the litigation, the entering of an agreement with the plaintiffs' counsel concerning
attorney's fees and costs, and all other matters pertaining to this lawsuit.

4. If my consent form is stricken or if I am for any reason not allowed to participate in this
case, I authorize Plaintiffs’ counsel to use this Consent Form to re-file my claims in a separate or
related action against my employer.

(Signature) ____________________ (Date Signed) ____________________10/16/2015

Tyronn ferebee

Exhibit A
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